RECEIVED 06-14-2019

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

FRIENDS OF FRAME PARK, U.A.,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

Appeal No. 2019AP96 Cir. Ct. No. 17-CV-2197

CITY OF WAUKESHA,

Defendant-Respondent.

APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER ENTERED ON NOVEMBER 26, 2018 IN CIRCUIT COURT FOR WAUKESHA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL O. BOHREN, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF APPELLANT

Joseph R. Cincotta State Bar No. 1023024 Attorney for Appellant

P.O. Address: 400 East Wisconsin Avenue – Suite 205 Milwaukee, WI 53202 414-416-1291 Jrc4@chorus.net

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. May a City withhold producing public records showing its interactions with a private business entity regarding redeveloping a public park under the competitive bargaining provisions of the open meetings law?

The Circuit Court found that the City could do so either because it was competing with another municipality for something or was engaging in negotiations with the private business.

2. Did the Circuit Court err in granting summary judgment regarding whether the filing of the underlying circuit court case was "a cause" of the City's release of the withheld records two days later?

The Circuit Court determined that the City's Attorney's statement as to its reasons for releasing the records 2 days after the case was filed was dispositive and that there was no genuine issue of fact regarding whether the filing of the court action was a cause for the release.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The decisional law regarding the open records law and the open meetings law contemplates court rulings that help delineate the limits and parameters of those laws both for requesting citizens and responding municipalities. This matter is a case of first impression, addressing whether an exception that is set forth in Wisconsin's Open Meetings law may be applied to the Open Records law and, if so, whether it was properly applied in this case.

The law on the effectiveness of the attorneys fees provision of the open records law is also at issue.

The Court's decision will provide significant and needed guidance on these issues. The circumstances support both publication and also having the Court schedule and hear oral argument.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

I. Summary of Case and Procedural History.

This matter arises from an open records request served on the City of Waukesha in October 2017. The City responded and withheld certain records. The City asserted it was permitted to withhold those records pursuant to an exception in the Open Meetings law. *See App 38-39*.

The underlying activity of the City and the subject of the records request was the City's involvement with a private business and collegiate baseball promoter, Big Top Baseball. Big Top's plan was to engage the City to re-purpose the City's public park, Frame Park, into a for-profit baseball stadium operation. *See Record at 19 – Objection filed with City.* The records withheld were contractual documents between the City and Big Top. *App 49-87*.

Appellant filed the underlying case on December 18, 2017. The Common Council for the City met on December 19, 2017. The issue of the contracts and the partnership with Big Top was briefly addressed at the Council meeting. A review of the meeting and other submissions makes clear that the issue was controversial. The City does not deny that. However, the City points to this meeting as somehow removing its need to withhold the records. Nothing in the public record show that any action was taken regarding the plan to convert Frame Park and to allow Big Top's plan to go forward. That plan was not rescinded or cancelled at the December 19, 2017 meeting, just the opposite. *Record at 19 p. 6.* The City, through the City Attorney, released the withheld records the next day, December 20, 2017. *App 40*. The circuit court case had just been filed. The case proceeded to a scheduling conference and pre-trial discovery. The City filed a motion for summary judgment. The circuit court held a hearing on November 5, 2018 and thereafter issued its ruling from the bench on November 9, 2018. *App 1-31*.

The Circuit Court determined that the City's justification for withholding the records was sufficient to allow that action by the City. The Court also determined that the filing of the Court case was not a cause for the City to release the records, which eliminated the ability for Appellant to recover attorneys fees pursuant to Wis. Stats. § 19.37.

Notice of Appeal was timely filed on January 9, 2019. This brief is also timely filed his day pursuant to an extension of time granted by the Court.

II. Facts Regarding Appellants' Open Records Request and Underlying Actions by the City of Waukesha.

The City of Waukesha through its City Administrator Kevin Lahner first communicated with representatives of Big Top Baseball ("Big Top") regarding converting Frame Park into a professional baseball park in fall of 2016. *Record at* 42 – Depo of K. Lahner at p. 36 and infra. Negotiations with Big Top, which is a private party, began soon thereafter and were ongoing from late 2016 and continued through spring of 2017 and thereafter into the fall of 2017. *App 44*-45.

7

Public awareness grew through the summer and into the fall of 2017. The project was quite controversial.

The reason for the controversy was that far from simply building a new ball diamond to replace the existing public baseball field at Frame Park, the ambitious plan being discussed called for the City to use public taxpayer/TIF money to build a new stadium facility. *Record at 19 – Objection filed with City.* Big Top Baseball, in the form of a separate LLC called Big Top Waukesha, LLC, would control the stadium. Big Top would presumptively be entitled to all revenues and would operate the facility for profit. The facility would be controlled by Big Top and only be used as per its discretion. Early drafts of an agreement between the City and Big Top make clear that these terms and conditions were being negotiated in detail as early as Spring of 2017. *See App 41, 46-49.*

In May 2017, the City Administrator sent an email to certain private parties who were involved in the behind-the-scenes discussions asking them to keep information about the Frame Park project secret and not share it with the Waukesha City Council:

Please keep the information regarding the Frame Park improvements confidential as we are not yet ready to discuss it with the entire City Council until we are further along.

App 41 - Email from City Administrator to non-city third parties.

By early summer of 2017, word was getting out about the City Administrator's plan to convert Frame Park. However, very little was publically discussed at City Council meetings. Questions persisted. Finally in an email on

October 2017, the City Administrator explained that:

<u>Status</u>

After learning in July/August that the League had chosen Big Top Baseball as their preferred partner for a new team in this area we **began working through the negotiation process for a use agreement for Frame Park.** We are nearing the end of the negotiation process and are planning a public meeting schedule. The public meetings will include a general Public Informational Meeting, Parks Recreation and Forestry Board, Finance Committee and the Common Council. This is pretty typical for a potential project that has a parks impact and a financial impact.

App 44-45 (emphasis added).

In hindsight, this turned out to be inaccurate because extensive negotiations and draft contracts had already been exchanged between the City Administrator and the attorneys and other representatives of Big Top well before the July/August time frame represented by the City Administrator. *See App 46-48*.

The Friends of Frame Park, U.A. was formally established in November of 2017. However, a group of Waukesha citizens, property owners, and tax payers has been acting as an organized group for several months before that time. By the early fall of 2017, questions and concerns mounted. One of the members of the group, Scott Anfinson, prepared and submitted the open records request that is at issue in this matter on October 9, 2017. *App 36*. The request has several parts and included the following request:

6. Please include any Letters of Intent (LOI) or Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) or Lease Agreements between Big Top Baseball and or Northwoods League Baseball and the City of Waukesha during the time frame of 5-1-16 to the present time frame. See App 36 - October 9, 2017 records request.

While the request was submitted to the City Administrator, the City Attorney prepared a written response and provided that to Mr. Anfinson on October 23, 2017. *App 38*. In that response, the City Attorneys office acknowledges that it is producing records but also that it is withholding certain records which would otherwise be responsive. These records were the contractual documents and correspondence between the City and Big Top. The pertinent excerpt from the City Attorneys response is set forth below:

There are no letters of intent or memoranda of understanding between Big Top Baseball or the Northwoods League and the City of Waukesha. A park use contract with Big Top Baseball is presently in draft form. Because the contract is still in negotiation with Big Top, and there is at least one other entity that may be competing with the City of Waukesha for a baseball team, the draft contract is being withheld from your request, pursuant to Wis. Stats. \S 19.35(1)(a) and §19.85(1)(e). This is to protect the City's negotiating and bargaining position. The draft contract is subject to review, revision, and approval of the Common Council before it can be finalized, and the Common Council have not yet had an opportunity to review and discuss the draft contract. Protecting the City's ability to negotiate the best deal for the taxpayers is a valid public policy reason to keep the draft contract temporarily out of public view – Wis. Stats. (19.35) view – Wis. States that exemptions to the requirement of a governmental body to meet in open session are indicative of public policy in this regard, and Wis. Stats. (19.85(1))exempts from open session "[d]eliberating or negotiating the purchasing of public properties, the investing of public funds, or conducting other specified public business, whenever competitive or bargaining reasons require a closed session." There currently is a need to restrict public access for competitive and bargaining reasons until the Council has an opportunity to review the draft and determine whether it wants to adopt it or set different parameters for continued negotiations with the interested parties. If the

contract's terms were made public, it would substantially diminish the City's ability to negotiate different terms the Council may desire for the benefit the City. Because the City's negotiating and bargaining position could be compromised by public disclosure of the draft contract before the Common Council have had an opportunity to consider the draft, after applying the balancing test, the public's interest in protecting that negotiating and bargaining position outweighs the public's interest in disclosing the draft contract at this point.

See App 38-39.

As the City Attorney's letter explains, the City determined to withhold from

its production of records a so-called Park Use Contract. The City Attorney

explained that:

Because the contract is still in negotiation with Big Top, and there is at least one other entity that may be competing with the City of Waukesha for a baseball team, the draft contract is being withheld from your request, pursuant to Wis. Stats. \$\$19.35(1)(a) and \$19.85(1)(e).

Id. App 49-87.¹

Based on this response it is apparent that the City was engaged in negotiations with Big Top Waukesha, *and only Big Top Waukesha*, regarding the re-development of Frame Park into a baseball stadium operation. Also, the letter asserts that there is some competition, "for a baseball team," that the City and/or Big Top is a part of at that time.

¹ Copies of the documents actually withheld by the City were drafts of multiple contracts. These were later produced by the City and are included in the Appendix at pp 49-87. While these documents were obviously at issue below, and are part of the record between the parties, they inadvertently were not formally included in the circuit court record. As there is no dispute as to their genuineness and no prejudice from including them, and for the use of the Court, Friends requests that the Court take judicial notice of these records and add them to the court record in

However, on October 22, 2017, the day before the City's Attorneys response letter, the City Administrator issued an email to the Mayor and other City officials suggesting that he had waited until "July/August" to learn whether Big Top or another entity was awarded the franchise from the league before getting involved in negotiations with Big Top. *App 44-45, esp. 45 at "status.*" Thus, according to the City Administrator, the competition with other entities was over by July/August. As noted, the City Attorneys October 23, 2017 letter takes the opposite position, explaining that the competition was still ongoing at that time.

Moreover, negotiations with Big Top have been ongoing long before

July/August 2017 as the City Administrator discussed in his deposition:

Q. You mentioned that the first contact you had I think with Big Top was in August of 2016.

A. Yes.

Q. And then we see e-mails and other information about -- related to the Frame Park baseball project sometime after that, spring of 2017. And then later, about a year ago now in the fall of 2017, there are meetings at the city and there's e-mails and such, and Big Top is the other party in the contract at that time; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And throughout that time I should have said.

A. Yes.

Q. Was there ever a time when you or anybody at the City sought other submissions, or bids perhaps they'd be called, from people beyond – from entities other than Big Top Waukesha connected to the Frame Park baseball project?

the case. Wis. Stats. § 902.01; Town of Holland v. PSC, 382 Wis.2d 799 817 (Ct. App. 2018).

A. No.

Q. Was that ever a consideration in your mind, to seek other potential contracting parties for the team?

A. Before the conversations started I considered who might be a good partner.

Q. Okay. About when was that, if you recall?

A. It was around August of 2016.

Q. And what was the reason, the basis that you consider them to be a good partner?

A. I did research on the big -- the different Northwoods League franchises, and I looked at their track records and what they owned and if they had had success or not. And that's what I did.

Q. During this research did you become aware of the group that Mr. Kelneck was associated with?

A. No.

Q. Did there come a point in time where you in your judgment and under your understanding of your duties as City administrator made a determination that the Big Top group was the one that you wanted to partner with on behalf of the City; did that happen at some point in time?

A. Yeah, I -- in my professional opinion, they were a good group to work with. And that's why I sought them out.

Q. And was there any formality associated with that decision -- Let me step back. As part of that then you had to communicate with them to discuss this possibility of the project at Frame Park, correct?

A. Yes. Yes.

Q. And you might call those negotiations or communications, and that happened over a period of time, correct?

A. Yes

Record at 42 - Depo of K. Lahner at pp 46-49:1.

It is clear that the City Administrator had selected Big Top many months prior to the open records response. That preference is concerning, and relevant. But what is directly at issue is the notion that Big Top and/or Big Top in partnership with Waukesha had yet to be selected by the league as of the October 23, 2017 response letter. Recall that the City Attorney explains that the "competition" as to who will get a baseball team is ongoing and is the basis for withholding the records. *App 38*.

Yet, in his October 22, 2017 email the day before the City Administrator explained that he had only started negotiations with Big Top, "in July/August" once Big Top was selected by the league. *App 45*.

The City Attorney's explanation for withholding the records raises two different concepts. The first is negotiating with Big Top over the conversion of Frame Park. The second is the idea of the City "competing" with another entity for a baseball team. The City Attorney's explanation does not identify who that might be and the nature of that competition. *App 38*.

The City Attorney's letter also set forth the formal exception under which the City was attempting to withhold the records:

Wis. Stats. §19.35(1)(a) states that exemptions to the requirement of a governmental body to meet in open session are indicative of public policy in this regard, and Wis. Stats. §19.85(1)(e) exempts from open session "[d]eliberating or negotiating the purchasing of public properties, the investing of public funds, or conducting other specified public business, whenever competitive or bargaining reasons require a closed session."

Id.

This was the core legal issue that was presented to the circuit court below – whether the *open meetings* "competitive/bargaining" exception under Wis. Stats. §19.85(1)(e) could be used as an exception to withhold *open records* under § 19.35 and, if it could, whether the City's proffered justification satisfied the statutory standard.

After the City Attorney's October 23, 2017 response, and despite being denied certain records, the effort to investigate the potential Frame Park/Big Top Baseball deal continued. Appellant, Friends of Frame Park, U.A. ("Friends") hired legal counsel. Members of the group attended Waukesha City Council meetings to object - based on what they knew - but also try to learn the important details of what the City Administrator was negotiating with Big Top and, more generally, what was going to happen to Frame Park in the process.

Friends, filed an objection letter with the City on November 17, 2017. In that letter, Friends explained that it did not believe that the City Attorneys withholding of public records under the open meetings bargaining exception was valid:

In addition, as you know, requests have been made under the open records law for inspection and/or copying of all public records related to the City and its staff's communications and interactions with Big Top. While some documents have been provided the City has invoked certain of the exceptions to the open meetings law to refuse to provide a copies of key documents, contending that the negotiation regarding the contract between the City and Big Top justifies secrecy. This is a misapplication of the exceptions. This exception is primarily designed to allow a City to engage in review of contracts when there is a competition between potential vendors to the city and multiple bidders. The exception recognizes that the City may need to maintain confidentiality while it negotiates for the benefit of the City.

Here, the exception is being invoked for the apparent benefit of Big Top. The City and Big Top are or should be engaged in an arm's length negotiation. The subject of that negotiation is the disposition of a substantial piece of public property. There is no sound reason under the policy of the open records and open meetings law (nor their exceptions) to withhold documents that have been exchanged between the City and Big Top. The only apparent reason for this action by the City Administrator is so that he can negotiate without any public scrutiny. But this is the antithesis of the purpose of the open records law and of open government generally. The open records law is designed to allow the public to learn about public business contemporaneously as it occurs so that the public can be informed and hold its elected and other officials accountable. Invoking an exception for the purpose of preventing public accountability flies in the face of that policy and the letter and spirit of statute.

Record at 19 p. 6.

Despite this objection, the City did not produce any further records during later November and into early December 2017. However, the agenda for the City Council meeting of December 19, 2017 indicated that the issue of the use of Frame Park would be taken up by the Common Council at that meeting. *Record at 38 – Minutes of December 19, 2917 Common Council meeting.* The records that were being withheld directly addressed the nature and specific terms that the City Administrator had been negotiating with Big Top regarding the conversion of Frame Park into a for-profit baseball operation. This was the precise and controversial issue that was to be taken up at the December 19, 2017 public meeting. Id.

Given this, Friends believed it was necessary to preserve its remedies and somewhat quickly filed the underlying court action seeking production of the withheld records. The summons and complaint was filed the day before the meeting on December 18, 2017 and a service copy provided to the City Attorney by email that evening and then again in the morning of December 19, 2019.

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