Page 1 of 58

RECEIVED 03-24-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

SUPREME COURT STATE OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2019AP000096

FRIENDS OF FRAME PARK U.A.

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

CITY OF WAUKESHA

Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

Appeal from the Waukesha County Circuit Court, Case No. 17-CV-2197 Michael O. Bohren, Presiding Judge Reversed by the Court of Appeals

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER

John M. Bruce State Bar No. 1005232 West & Dunn, LLC 1308 Washington Street, Ste 205 Two Rivers, WI 54241 (920) 249-5533 Attorneys for Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner, City of Waukesha

Dated: March 23, 2021

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE TEST APPLIED TO DETERMINE WHETHER ATTORNEY'S FEES MAY BE AWARDED UNDER THE PUBLIC RECORDS LAW BEFORE THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Case law prior to the Court of Appeals' decision in this case clearly sets forth the test to be applied in determining whether attorney's fees are available under Wis. Stat. § 19.37.

As the court noted in *State ex rel. Vaughan v. Faust*, 143 Wis.

2d 868, 871, 422 N.W.2d 898 (Ct. App. 1988),

"[I]n *Racine Ed. Ass'n v. Racine Bd. Of Ed.*, 129 Wis. 2d 319, 327-28, 385 N.W.2d 510, 513 (Ct. App. 1986), we adopted the reasoning of *Cox v. United States Dept. of Justice*, 601 F.2d 1, 6 (D.C. Cir. 1979), and held that a party seeking fees under sec. 19.37(2), Stats., must show that prosecution of the action could reasonably be regarded as necessary to obtain the information, and that a "causal nexus" exists between that action

and the agency's surrender of the information. This is largely a question of causation and is a factual determination to be made on a case-by-case basis. *Racine Ed. Ass'n*, *supra*."

According to WTMJ, Inc. v. Sullivan, 204 Wis.2d 452,

456, 555 N.W.2d 140 (Ct. App. 1996),

"[a] party seeking attorney fees under § 19.37(2), Stats., must show that prosecution of the action could reasonably be regarded as necessary to obtain the information and that a "causal nexus" exists between that action and the agency's surrender of the information. *State ex rel. Vaughan v. Faust*, 143 Wis. 2d 868, 871, 422 N.W.2d 898, 899 (Ct. App. 1988). In Wisconsin, the test of cause is whether the actor's action was a substantial factor in contributing to the result." (citation omitted)

"The test to determine whether a party has prevailed under sec.

19.37(2) is whether there is a causal connection between the litigant's

mandamus action and that agent's compliance with disclosure." State ex

rel. Eau Claire Leader-Telegram v. Barrett, 148 Wis.2d 769,

773, 436 N.W.2d 885, 887 (Ct. App. 1989).

The mere fact that the disclosure occurred after initiation of the mandamus action is insufficient to establish the required causal connection. *Racine Educ. Ass'n v. Board of Educ.*, 145 Wis.2d 518, 522-23, 427 N.W.2d 414, 416 (Ct. App. 1988).

In the past, the Court of Appeals relied on Federal case law to support this test. In *Racine Education Assoc. v. Board*

of Education, 129 Wis.2d 319, 327, 385 N.W.2d 510 (Ct. App.

1986) for example, the Court of Appeals stated as follows:

"To determine the meaning of 'prevails in whole or in substantial part,' we adopted the analysis of *Cox v. United States Department of Justice*, 601 F.2d 1 (D.C. Cir. 1979), which held:

[T]he party seeking such fees in the absence of a court order [compelling disclosure] must show that prosecution of the action could reasonably be regarded as necessary to obtain the information, and that a causal nexus exists between that action and the agency's surrender of the information. Whether a party has made such a showing in a particular case is a factual determination that is within the province of the district court to resolve. In making this determination, it is appropriate for the district court to consider, inter alia, whether the agency, upon actual and reasonable notice of the request, made a good faith effort to search out material and to pass on whether it should be disclosed....If rather than the threat of an adverse court order either a lack of actual notice of request or an unavoidable delay accompanied by due diligence in the administrative processes was the actual reason for the agency's failure to respond to a request, then it cannot be said that the complainant substantially prevailed in his suit."

II. THE TEST APPLIED BY THE COURT OF APPEALS IN THIS CASE

The Court of Appeals in its decision in this case acknowledges that the test "most often invoked" to determine the prevailing party in public records cases is whether the lawsuit is the cause or at least a cause of the release of the records. *Friends*, 2020 WI App 61 ¶ 3; P-App. 103-104. However, it found that the test was not applicable. Instead, according to the Court of Appeals, in determining whether a party prevails in a public records case it is not necessary that a lawsuit be a cause of the release of records: "We hold that where litigation is pending and an authority releases a public record because a public records exception is no longer applicable, *causation is not the appropriate inquiry* for determining whether the requesting party 'substantially prevailed.' Rather, the key consideration is *whether the authority properly invoked the exception in its initial decision to withhold release.*" *Id.* ¶ 4 P-App. 104. (Emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals' statement of its holding in this regard is difficult to understand taken in the context of this case. As stated, it seems to describe a situation where an exception under the law is properly invoked but later becomes inapplicable. If an authority releases a public record "because a public records exception is *no longer* applicable" as stated by the Court of Appeals above, the exception necessarily must have applied at some point. If not, the exception could never be "no longer" applicable. Thus, it would make no sense to ascertain whether an authority properly invoked the exception initially, as it perforce was properly invoked before it could become "no longer applicable."

If an exception was properly invoked, however, there would be no obligation to disclose the record requested under

Page 19 of 58

the law at the time of its invocation. It is conceivable that in that situation the exception would not apply at some subsequent time, at which time the record would have to be disclosed under the law. Possibly, the Court of Appeals is holding that attorney's fees may be awarded in that case if, for example, the records were not released soon enough. In such a case, it could be argued that while the litigation was not a cause of the release and the exception was properly invoked, there was too long of a delay in disclosing the records after the exception no longer applied for some reason warranting an award of attorney's fees. If that is what the Court of Appeals is holding, however, it is a holding which does not apply to its decision in this action.

In this case the Court of Appeals determined that the City *did not properly* invoke an exception initially. The Court of Appeals held that the exception relied on by the City in initially withholding the records in question did not apply. Therefore, there would seem to be no reason it would hold that the test to be applied is one applicable where an exception is properly invoked initially, and records released subsequently when the exception no longer applied.

12

It is most probable that in this case the Court of Appeals intended to hold that where an exception was improperly invoked initially, attorney's fees would be available regardless of whether the litigation was a cause of the release of the records, even if the records were voluntarily released subsequently. It is not likely that the Court of Appeals intended to hold that the test it imposes in its decision in this case would apply when an exception was properly invoked initially, although it is possible the Court of Appeals may hold that it does in some future case given the rationale behind its holding in this matter. If a delay in disclosing records where an exception has been improperly invoked initially makes an award of fees available regardless of whether litigation is the cause of disclosure, and the delay in voluntary disclosure is caused by the authority possessing the records. If there is an unreasonable delay of voluntary disclosure although an exception was properly invoked initially, the delay would likewise be caused by the authority in question.

If it was the intent of the Court of Appeals that the test it imposes applies where an exception to the law did not apply initially, however, that situation is not significantly different from other situations in which the test which was applied was whether litigation was a cause of the release of records. As that is the case, the new test imposed by the Court of Appeals is unnecessary.

What the Court of Appeals refers to as the "key consideration" to be determined in deciding whether attorney's fees should be awarded in its decision in this case (Id. \P 4: P-App 104) is in fact the key consideration in most actions brought under the Public Records Law. As noted above, the Court of Appeals claims the key consideration here is "whether the authority properly invoked the exception in its initial decision to withhold release." Id. Obviously, the question whether an authority properly invoked an exception in its decision to withhold release of records will be a common question in an action to enforce the Public Records Law. Just as obviously, the question whether attorney's fees should be awarded will commonly arise where an exception to disclosure was improperly invoked by an authority. In that case, the person successfully maintaining an exception did not apply and seeking to enforce the law would be a prevailing party.

Accordingly, if the Court of Appeals appropriately decided the exception to the law invoked by the City was invoked improperly, there is nothing to distinguish this case from any other case under the Public Records Law. In each such case, if an exception to the law had been invoked by an authority, a determination would have to be made whether the exception was properly invoked. If it was not properly invoked, the plaintiff would prevail. There is nothing special or distinctive about the circumstances of this case which requires a different test be applied to determine whether attorney's fees should be awarded.

If the City understands the Court of Appeals' opinion correctly, it is the fact that records previously withheld were released within two days of commencement of the action which the Court of Appeals believes renders it necessary that an award of fees be available "even if the lawsuit was not an actual cause" of the release of the records in question. *Id.* ¶ 5; P. App. 104. According to the Court of Appeals, if there had been no voluntary release of the records, then apparently Friends would have been required to establish its litigation was a cause of the release of the records. Because there was a voluntary release, it need not do so.

The Court of Appeals acknowledges that it must reconcile its holding with what it asserts "at least superficially" appears to be inconsistent language in prior decisions. *Id.* \P 4; P-App. 104. It is questionable whether the language of its prior decisions is only "superficially" inconsistent with its decision in this case, though, as it admits that "throughout the years we have continuously focused on causation, or what the federal circuits term 'the catalyst theory." Id. ¶ 25; P-App 115. (Emphasis added). The Court of Appeals contends, however, that this continual focus on causation is irrelevant, because "several cases focus on whether an unreasonable delay was caused by the authority's improper reliance on an exception under the public records law, regardless of the subsequent voluntary disclosure." *Id.*, ¶ 26; P-App. 116. Notably, the Court of Appeals in ¶ 26 of its opinion refers to an authority's improper reliance on an exception, while in ¶ 4 of its opinion it apparently addresses a situation where an authority properly relies on an exception which came to be "no longer applicable" as noted above.

As an example it refers to the case of *Portage Daily* **Register v. Columbia County Sheriff's Department**, 2008 WI App 30, ¶ 8, 308 Wis.2d 357, 746 N.W.2d 525, noting that in that case the Court of Appeals stated that the matter was not moot as it was necessary to determine whether the plaintiff was entitled to damages and fees due to the failure to disclose the records in question. Id. ¶ 26; P-App. 116. However, this does not support its decision to depart from the long-established test requiring that an action be at least a cause of the release of records. Certainly, a matter is not moot in all cases where an action has been commenced and records were voluntarily released thereafter, and fees may be awarded in those circumstances. It does not follow from this that in that case attorney's fees may be awarded regardless of whether the action was a cause of the release of the records, however. Portage Daily Register does not depart from the wellestablished case law holding that litigation must be a cause of disclosure of records for attorney's fees to be awardable, as it did not address whether fees should be awarded and instead

merely held that eligibility for an award of fees remained to be determined.

The Court of Appeals claims that in *Racine Educ. Ass'n v. Board of Education for Racine Unified School District*, 145 Wis.2d 518, 427 N.W.2d 414 (Ct. App. 1988), it "decided that the requesting party was not entitled to fees because the lawsuit was not a cause of the release; rather, there was 'an unavoidable delay accompanied by due diligence in the administrative processes.'" *Friends*, 2020 WI App 61 ¶ 23; P-App 114. Indeed, it expressly stated in that case that "[a]fter examining the record, including the voluminous contents of the exhibits, and considering the arguments of the parties, *we conclude that REA has not shown a sufficient causal nexus between the prosecution of the mandamus action and the board's release of the records.*" *Racine Educ. Ass'n*, 145 Wis.2d at 523. (Emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals does not seem to claim that in *Racine Educ. Ass'n* it decided causation need not be established for attorney's fees to be available. Nor can it do so given its statement in that case that "[i]f the failure to timely respond to a request was caused by an unavoidable delay accompanied by due diligence in the administrative processes, *rather than being caused by the mandamus action*, the plaintiff has not substantially prevailed." *Id.* at

Page 26 of 58

524. (Emphasis added). In addition, it specifically held that attorney's fees were not available because no cause had been shown. According to the Court of Appeals: "We therefore conclude from our *de novo* review that REA did not meet its burden of proving that the prosecution of the mandamus action was reasonably necessary to obtain the release of the records. As causation has not been adequately shown, it cannot be said that REA "prevail[ed] in whole or in substantial part." Sec. 19.37(2), Stats. "We therefore reverse the trial court's judgment which awarded attorney's fees to REA." *Id.* at 525.

Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals in its decision in this action goes on to say: "In the *Racine Education Association* decisions, our stated focus on the lawsuit as a cause-in-fact clearly dovetailed with our consideration of whether there was an unreasonable (as opposed to an unavoidable) delay in release. If we had determined that there was an unreasonable delay in that case, the outcome undoubtedly would have been different. Thus the *Racine Education Association* decisions adopted causation as the test for prevailing-party status, but the application of that test was intertwined with the court's finding that there was no violation of a lawsuit but the authority's prompt action once the records became available." *Friends*, 2020 WI App 61 at ¶ 24; P-App 114-115.

Undoubtedly, therefore, the Court of Appeals in the *Racine Education Association* decisions adhered to causation as the test for prevailing-party status. The Court of Appeals feels, however, that the requester in those decisions was unable to establish cause because there was no unreasonable delay in releasing the records once the records became available. Thus, the Court of Appeals states that if there had been an unreasonable delay, the outcome of the case would have been different.

It is unclear whether this means that an unreasonable delay would have rendered the lawsuit a cause of the release of records, or whether the Court of Appeals is saying that an unreasonable delay would have required a different outcome regardless of whether there was a causal nexus between the litigation and the release. Regardless, however, these decisions do not stand for or create a new test of eligibility for fees under the Public Records Law. There is nothing in the case law which indicates litigation need not be a cause of disclosure for an award of attorney's fees to be available.

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